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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
TAMPA DIVISION

STEVEN BUNYAN,
Plaintiff,
V. Case No: 8:8-cv-2210-T-36@SS
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
ROBERT L. WILKIE, SECRETARY
OF THE DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS
AFFAIRS,

Defendans.
/

ORDER

This cause is before the Court Bhaintiff's Renewed Challenge to the United States of
America’s Certification and Substitution for Dr. Azneer (the “Renewed é&mgdl”), (Doc. 45),
which Defendants oppose, (Doé7), and Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and Incorporated
Memorandum of Law (the “Motion to Dismiss”), (Doc. 40), which Plaintiff opposes, (Doc. 43).
The Court, having considered the parties’ submissions and being fully advised in thegremis
will deny tle Renewed Challengend granin-part and denyn-part the Motion to Dismiss

|. BACKGROUND
A. Factual Background?
Steven Bunyan (“Plaintiff”), an employee of the Department of Veterans aftthe

“Department”)at the time provided temporary relief for @atientsitter ina hospital room at the

1 As Rule 12(b)(6) serves as one of Defendants’ bases for dismissal in the MotiemiesDbr
purposes of this section, the facts are derived from the operative complainteglagicans of
which the Court must accept as true in considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motidar v. Portocarrerg

963 F.2d 332, 334 (11th Cir. 1992)uality Foods de Centro Am., S.A. v. Latin Am. Agribusiness
Dev. Corp. S.A711 F.2d 989, 994 (11th Cir. 1983). Further factual development through evidence
is reviewed in another section below.
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Bay Pines V.A. Medical Center on February 7, 2016. (Doc. 39 11, 19). On that particulae day, t
hospital housed a patient in the rodth.at 120. While in the room, Plaintiff olxsed the patient
hide underneath his bed sheet and refuse to acknowledge Dr. Ira Azneer (“Dr. Aziadsr"an
employee of the Departmenrivhen Dr. Azneer attempted to interact witle patientid. at 114,
20.Dr. Azneer abruptly departed from the roomgaly exclaiming, “I don’t have time for this
shit.” Id. Following Dr. Azneer’s departure, the patient became agjtasgkecially after Plaintiff
exchanged the patient’s silverware for plasticwaned threatened Plaintifid. at 7126-22.
Consequently,Plaintiff asked nurse Roslyn Martin (“Martin”) to contact the V.A. Police
Department, purportedly in accordance with hospital polctyat 23.

Shortly thereafter, Dr. Azneer arrived in the room with Maittinat 24. When Plaintiff
explained what hadccurred, Dr. Azneer countermanded Plaintiff's request to contact the V.A.
Police Department, pointed his finger at Plaintiff, poked Plaintiff in the focghpashed
Plaintiff's chest, and told Plaintiff to “sit his black self down and do his jlab (internal quotation
marks omitted). Plaintiff “stepped back in a defensive manner” after Dr. Apnsbed himid.
at 125. Dr. Azneer “raised his cane in a threatening manner” towards Plaindithetwo men
shouted at each othed. at §26. Dr. Azneesubsequently exited the room again and went to the
nursing stationld. at §27. Plaintiff also exited the room, but nurse Shannon Norman Spurlock
(“Spurlock”) grabbed Plaintiffld. at §28. Spurlock refused to release Plaintiff from her grip,
despite Plaintiff's requests and assurances that he wasldalkfter leaving the nursing station,

Dr. Azneer swung his cane at Plaintiff, while Spurlock restrained Plaintiff, inteamgt to hit
Plaintiff. Id at 129. Plaintiff broke free from Spurlock’s restraint and ducked to avoid the swing.
Id. at §30. Plaintiff departed from this area and sat on a b&hdit. {31. Spurlock followed him

and sat on his lapd. Supervisor Donna Butler advised Plaintiff to go holdeat 132.
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Before Plaintiff could leave, Christopher Anglin (“Anglin”), a Caucasian Bay PihA&s
police officer, instructed him to stay for the investigation of the inci@iehtat 1133, 34. Ding
this time, Anglin sequestered Plaintiff with another police officer, but did not segqur. Azneer,
Spurlock,both of whom are also Caucasian, or any other individuals involved with the incident.
Id. at 1133, 34. Anglin made no attempt to learnnwestigate Plaintiff's perspective of the
incident.ld. at §34. Although Plaintiff expressed his desire to press charges against Dr. Azneer
three times, Anglin did not acknowledge these requiesiSr. Azneer was permitted to stand over
witnesses as tlyeoffered their statements regarding the incidiht-urthermore, Anglin and Dr.
Azneer pressured Spurlock to write a statement that Plaintiff harmed hére yates recanted her
statementld. Once Anglin completed his investigation, he returneddam®ff and asked Plaintiff
to waive his right to a union representativk Plaintiff agreed to waive this right because he hoped
that Anglin would take his statement, but Anglin instead arrested Plaintiff feryadtt. Anglin
handcuffed Plaintiff and transported him to j&il. at §35.

Following his arrest, Plaintiff was placed on administrative duties, which “dedrivim
of overtime and compensationd. at §38. Plaintiff was allegedly imprisoned and deprived of his
liberty without probable agse.ld. at 136. Plaintiff filed a complaint with the Department for racial
discrimination and retaliation in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Actk#64, 42 U.S.C.
§ 2000eet seq.(“Title VII), on April 5, 2016. Id. at T11. Plaintiff purportdy faced retaliation
during the EEO proces#d. at §37. Debbie Williams (“Williams”) and Kristine Konstantakos

(“Konstantakos”) asked Plaintiff to drop his Charge of Discrimination on or abowniber 13,

2 Plaintiff also alleges that Anglin previously restrained him, handcuffed higatened him with

a firearm and pepper spray, and issued a citation to him in 2014. (Doc. 1 114). Anglin stalked
Plaintiff following this incident, and Plaintiff “feels that he was racially profigdAnglin.” Id. at
1115-16. Once Plaintiff communicated this purported harassment to the Bay Pines V.A. Chief of
Police, Anglin “temporarily” ceased his alleged harassment of Plaitifat §17.

3
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2016.1d. at 139. Williams aggressively attemptedoressure Plaintiff into “removing” his Charge
of Discrimination “because it was in his best interesd.”at 40 (internal quotation marks
omitted). Plaintiff also claims that the Department gave Plaintiff’'s contact informatitimeto
Federal Bureaufdnvestigation (“FBI”) “and otherwise conspired to pressure [Pldjntifo not
speaking out” regarding the Charge of Discriminatith. at Y41. A purported FBI agent
identifying herself as “Sonya Young” demanded access to Plaintiff's residadcguatoned
Plaintiff about his social media postings discussing his discrimination, retaliazh,the
underlying facts. Plaintiff felt threatened by this conduct and unannounceddviBiaintiff also
claims that his supervisor notified him “of a fastding” on March 17, 2018, the day before his
deposition, and questioned him about his “harassment” of Ardlimt {42 (internal quotation
marks omitted).The Department issuealfinal decision on April 9, 2019d. at 12.Plaintiff
initiated this actia on September 6, 2018, (Doc. 1 at 1), and filed his operative complaint on May
21, 2019, (Doc. 39 at 11).
B. Procedural Background

Plaintiff brings this action against the United States of Ameaaod,Robert L. Wilkie
Secretary of the Departmeind. at 1943-69. Plaintiff's operative complaint contains four claims.
Id. First, Plaintiff brings a claim for “false arrest/false imprisonnaerd detentiohunder Florida
law via the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. § 265@htending thathe actions of the United
States, by and through its agents and employees, “such as Anglin, constitute falsalserest/f
imprisonment and detention” of Plaintiftl. at 46.Next, Plaintiff brings a claim againRiobert
Wilkie, Secretay of the Departmentor racial discriminatiorunder Title VII, alleging that the
Department subjected him to adverse employment actions by supervisory-supsmisory

personnel and th#te actionslescribed hereioonstituted a hostile work environnieh. at 151
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53-54 Plaintiff also sues Robert Wilkie as the Secretary of the Department fiati@taunder

Title VII, contending that the Department subjected him to harassment and intimiafi&ohe
engaged in protected activignder Title VII by reporting racial discrimination and filing a
complaintof discrimination Id. at 1158 60-62. Finally, Plaintiff bringan assault claim, alleging

that Dr. Azneeraised his cane in a threatening manner and swung his cane at Plaintiff to cause
bodily harm, thereby causing Plaintiff to be in reasonable fear that Dr. Azneer witeldhia.

Id. at 7164-69. This claim was initially lodged against Dr. Azneer individually, but the United
States has been substituted for Dr. Azriresiccordance with the Federal Employees Liability
Reform and Tort Compensation Act of 1988, 28 U.S.C. § 2679 (the “Westfall (Bxits. 16 at

1-2; 44 at 14).

In support of its substitution, the United States provided the United States Attorray for t
Middle District of Florida’s certification that Dr. Azneer constitli® governmental employee
acting in the scope of federal office or employment at the time of, and witltréspide facts at
of which Plaintiff's claim arises (the “Certification”). (Doc. -lI6at 1). Plaintiff objected to the
substitution. (Doc. 27 at-4). The Court declined to strike or otherwise deny the substitution of
the United States for Dr. Azneer, stating that the United Staiaklwemain substituted for Dr.
Azneer because the Court had not determined that Dr. Azneer, in fact, and not simglgeas all
by Plaintiff, engaged in conduct beyond the scope of his employment. {Boat 12, 14).
However given the facintensive nature of the inquiry, Plaintiff's allegations, #reresponse of
Defendants, the Court exercised its broad discretion to order discovery limited to wHther

Azneer acted within the scope of his employmkhtat 12-13.See also Glover Donahue 626

3 As the responses in opposition to the pending motions are styled such that they are made on
behalf of the UnitedStates, the Departmerdand Dr. Azneer, the Court utilize*Defendants”
throughout this Ordeo refer to all three parties simply for ease of reference.

5
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F. App’x 926, 930 (11th Cir. 2015) (holding that discovery and an evidentiary heaserey
unnecessary where a plaintiff allelgeo factsto support his contention that a federal employee
defendant acted outside the scope of employment at the time of the alleged wrongogphgsie
added).The Court explained that Plaintiff may renew his challenge, if he desired, following the
completion of this discovery. (Doc. 44 13.

Now, following the completion of the limited discovery, Plaintiff resdvis challenge to
the Certification, (Doc. 45 at#&), which Defendants oppog®oc. 47 at #9). As explained in
further detail below, the Court held an evidentiary hearing on Plaintiff's renewddngeon
August 25, 2020. (Doc. 82). The Court subsequently advised during a telephonic status conference
on September 15, 202@hat it found that Dr. Azneer was acting within the scope of his
employmenand that a written order would followhe Court now issues its written order denying
the Renewed Challenge.

Defendants also move to dismiss Plaintiff's retaliation claim (Count Ill) andtifa
assault claim (Count IV). (Doc. 40 at®). Defendard contend that Plainfipurportedly failedto
exhaust his administrative remedieshis retaliation claim, or the claira othewisetime-barred.
Id. at 6-7. Additionally, Defendantalso argue thahe Court must dismiss Plaintiff's assault claim
under Rule 12(b)(1) because the United States has been properly substitutedAforeler.and
the United States enjoys sovereign immuiidty lawsuits arising out of assaults committed by
persons who are not investigative or law enforcement offitakrat 8.

The Motion to Dismiss and the Renewed Challenge are thus ripe for the Court’s

consideration.
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II. RENEWED CHALLENGE
The Court begins with th&enewedChallenge. For the reasons set forth below, the
Renewed Challenge is due to be denied.
A. Legal Standard
Absent a waiver, sovereign immunity shields the United States and its agencissiitrom

FDIC v. Meyer 510 U.S. 471, 475 (1994)The terms of the federal government’s consent to be
sued in any court define that court’s jurisdiction to entertain the siB&’ Acquisitions, LP v.
United States ex rel. F.D.1.(224 F.3d 1260, 1263 (11th Cir. 2000) (internal quotations omitted).
Congess must unequivocally express a waiver of sovereign immétitson v. Gugliotta72 F.
Supp. 2d 1362, 1366 (S.D. Fla. 1999). The Federal Tort Claims Act (the “FTCA”) provides a
limited waiver of such sovereign immunity to permit persons injured bgréd&demployee
tortfeasors to file a lawsuit in federal district court against théedr8tates. 28 U.S.C. 88 1346(b),
2674. The FTCA provides that federal district courts have exclusive jurisdictioranyearaim
against the federal government arising out of the act of a federal employee perfattme the
scope of his employment duties:

Subject to the provisions of chapter 171 of this title,dis&rict

courts. . . shall have exclusive jurisdiction of civil actions on claims

against théJnited State,for money damages, accruing on and

afterJanuary 1, 1945, fonjuryor loss ofproperty,or

personal injuryor death caused by the negligent or wrongful act or

omission of anemployee of the Governmewhile acting within

the scope of his office or gsfoyment, under circumstances where

the United Statesf a private person, would be liable to the claimant

in accordance with the law of the place where the act or omission

occurred.
Id. 8§ 1346(b)See also Meyeb10 U.Sat 477 (identifying the elemesiof the statute).

Further, the Westfall Act provides, in relevant part:

The remedy against the United States provided by sect8#6h)
and 2672 of this title for injury or loss of property, or personal injury

7



Case 8:18-cv-02210-CEH-JSS Document 92 Filed 11/20/20 Page 8 of 34 PagelD 841

or death arising or resulting from the negligent or wrongful act or
omission of any employee of the Government while acting within
the scope of his office or employment is exclusive of any other civil
action or proceeding for money damages by reason of the same
subject matter against the employee whose act or omission gave rise
to the claim or against the estate of such employee.

28 U.S.C. § 2679(b)(1).

However, here are certairexceptions to this limited waiver of sovereign immunity.
Relevant herg[t]he provisions of this chapter and section 1346(b) shall not apply to . . . any claim
arising out of assault . . . 1d. 8 2680(h).“If one of the exceptions applies, the bar ofe@ign
immunity remains.’'Dolan v. U.S. Postal Senb46 U.S. 481, 485 (2006).

The purpose of the Westfall Act is to “protect Federal employees from persainibyli
for common law torts committed within the scope of their employment, wholading persons
injured by the common law torts of Federal employees with an appropriate regadst dhe
United States.” Westfall Act, Pub. L. No. 100-694, § 2(b), 102 Stat. 4563 (1988). To that end, the
Westfall Act allows the United States Attorn&eneral to certify that a defendant federal
employee was acting within the scope of his or her office or employment at the tmeerafident
out of which the claim arose, which thereby allows the United States to béusatsior the
federal employe@ a lawsuit for such action. 28 U.S.C. § 2679(d){he authority to make such
certification has been delegated to the United States Attorney for the distret thib civil action
is brought. 28 C.F.R. 8 15.4. When such certification is made, the civil action shall proceed in the
same manner as an action against the United States pursuant to the FTCA andssbglcb&
the exceptions and limitations applicable to those actions. 28 U.S.C. § 2679(d)(4).

Upon the certification of the Attorney General, the federal employee issdisdhirom the
action, and the United States is substituted as defendant in the employee®gitace.v. Haley

549 U.S. 225, 230 (2007). Indeed, “if an action is commencetemesal court, and the Attorney
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General certifies that the employee ‘was acting within the scope of his @ffeceployment at the
relevant time,” the United Statesustbe substituted as the defendant’ at 241 (quoting 28
U.S.C. § 2679(d)(1)) (inteml alterations omitted) (emphasis added). Thereafter, the litigation is
governed by the FTCAd. at 230.

However, the Attorney General’s certification is subject to judicialerevGutierrez de
Martinez v. Lamangdb15 U.S. 417, 434 (1995;J. & W. Ranch, Inc. v. Lehtiné€13 F.2d 1538,
1542 (11th Cir. 1990)amended hy924 F.2d 1555 (11th Cir. 1991). The Attorney General's
certification thus does not conclusively establish that the United Statesitigigistas the
defendant is propeGutierrez deMartinez 515 U.S. at 434. The Westfall Act is construed to allow
a plaintiff to present to the district court any objections regarding the Attorneyaberseope of
employment certificationd. at 436—37.

If a plaintiff challenges the scope of empiognt certification, the district court must
review such certificatiode novo See Flohr v. MackovjalB4 F.3d 386, 390 (11th Cir. 199@).
conducting ade novoreview of a certification, “the question of whether a given act falls within
the scope of emipyment is highly facspecific, and turns on the unique circumstances of the case
at bar.” Hendrix v. Snow170 F. App’x 68, 82 (11th Cir. 2006internal alterations omitted)
(quotingBennett v. United State$02 F.3d 486, 489 (11th Cir. 19963jgnificantly, the “burden
of altering the status quo by proving that the employee acted outside the scope of empoyment
.. on the plaintiff.”"Flohr, 84 F.3d at 390 (alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted).
While at least one district judge within the Middle District Florida has adopted the
preponderance of the evidence standard taken by the Fourth Circuit, neither theeSDpem
nor the Eleventh Circuit has recognized that standard as appliCabiepol, a.S. v. Worrel421

F. Supp. 3d 1321, 13389 (M.D. Fla. 2019)appeal filed No. 1914597. The Supreme Court has
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explained that the United States “must remain the fedefahdant in the action unless and until
the District Court determines that the employedact, and not simply as alleged by the plaintiff,
engaged in conduct beyond the scope of his employm@shdrn 549 U.S. at 231 (emphasis in
original). “Substituibn of the United States is not improper simply because the Attorney General’'s
certification rests on an understanding of the facts that differs from the ffiaadtegations.”ld.

Finally, “[t]he question of whether an employee’s conduct was withirs¢bpe of his
employment is governed by the law of the state where the incident occuiaut,’ 84 F.3d at
390 (internal quotation marks omittedn employee’s conduct falls within the scope of his or her
employment under Florida law where the employee’s conduct: (1) is of the kind he washe
employed to perform; (2) occurs “substantially within the time and space limitsriaeth@r
required by the work to be performed”; and (3) is “activated at least in part by a purpose to ser
the master.Fields v. Devereaux Found., In@44 So0.3d 1193, 1196 (Fla. 2d DCA 2018) (internal
guotations omitted) (quotiniglesia Christiana La Casa Del Senor, Inc. v. L83 So.2d 353,
357 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001)).

B. Analysis

In renewing his challenge to the Certificatioolldwing the completion of limited
discovery, Plaintiff provides his testimony in an affidavit, the deposition testimony. @ddja
Krnic-Barrie (Dr. Barrie”#), and the deposition testimony of Martin. (Docs:14%52, 453).
Plaintiff's affidavit and Martin’s deposition testimony are offered gdheta claim that Dr.
Azneer assauwdd Plaintiff. See(Doc. 45 at 2)The deposition of DiBarrie is offered taundercut

the Certification’s veracitySee id.at 3. Dr. Barrie, who has intermittently served #&hief

4 At the evidentiary hearing, the doctdentified herself as “Dr. Sanparrie.” (Doc. 87 at 214:8
10). Thus, the Court will refer to her as “Dr. Barrie.”

10
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Hospitalist for Bay Pines, (Doc. 45at 5:16-23), previously declared under penalty of perjury
that Dr. Azneer acted within the scope of his employm@nuc. 31 at 1), upon which the
Certification relied—together with théirst complaint’s allegatior’s—to conclude thabr. Azneer
acted within the scope of his employment, (Doc:116t 1). However, in this subsequent
deposition, Dr. Barrie stated tHagr basis for making the certification was simply that Dr. Azneer
was on call and seeing patients that d®oc. 452 at 11:4-8). She admitted thathedid not
witness the events and generally avoided answering whether Dr. Azneer's alitiged a
constituted something that he was hired toldoat 12:21-25, 13:1. Plaintiff argues that, because
Dr. Barrie’s declarationn which she statetthat Dr. Azneer actedithin the scope of employment
served as a basis for the Certification and Dr. Barrie couldsluifitiently explain how Dr. Azneer
acted within the scope of his employment, Dr. Azneer should be resubstituted for tleStaits.
(Doc. 45 at 23). Plantiff's argument relies on factsfered inPlaintiff's affidavit and Martin’s
depositionto showthat Dr. Azneer assaulted Plaintiffut Plaintiff doesnot provide an analysis
for how Dr. Azneer’s actigsifall outside his scope of employment under thgliapble test, aside
from a conclusory assertion at the end of the Renewed Challdnge4.

In opposing the Renewed Challenge, Defenddotsthe first time, dispute Plaintiff's
allegations and provide their own recounting of the facts. Defendants provide severatexhibit
including the declaration of Dr. Azneer, the declarationhafrgenurseMichele Dean(“Dean”),

Dr. Azneer’s deposition, and the declaration of attorney Lance Mahifthitman”). (Docs. 47

1, 472, 47-3, 47-6)Defendants rely on their providediidence to argue that Plaintiff initially

5 Just like the operative complaint, the first complaint alleged that Dr. Azneet hagseane in a
threatening manner in the hospital room and subsequent swung hé €daiatiff. (Doc. 1 1122,
25).

11
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became angry with Dr. Azneeyelled profanities aDr. Azneer, and followed him out of the
hospital room into the hallway. (Doc. 47 at 3). Based on Dr. Azneer’s declaratiomdbete
argue that Dr. Azneer feared Plaintiff and gripped the shaft of his cane ifeaside mannerin
the hallway but otherwise turned away from Plaintiff and continued walking away from Plaintiff
while Plaintiff followed Dr. Azneer down the hallway and yelled profanities at limat 4.As
both Dr. Azneer an@ean state in their declarations that Dr. Azneer did not swing his cane at
Plaintiff, (Docs. 471 11Q 472 16), Defendants dispute Plaintiff's assertion that Dr. Azneer did
so, (Doc. 47 at 5).

Defendants argue that Dr. Azneer’s actions were taken on hospital property while he wa
making the rounds and his conflict with Plaintiff arose from a dispute ovepfirepriate action
to take in providing care to a suicidal patiddt.at 9. Accordng to Defendantr. Azneer, as the
attending physician, maintained the responsibility and authority to override Plainstfisctions,
switch Plaintiff with a different aide, and act in the best interests of the phtidbefendants
claim that Dr. &Zneer’s actions were undertaken to deescalate the “volatile” situation caused by
Plaintiff. Id. (internal quotation marks omitted). Defendants argue that Plaintiff “has feotdf
evidence sufficient to disprove that Dr. Azneer’s actions were motivatéehst in part, by his

desire to serve the interests” of the Departniddt. Finally, Defendants argue that, even if

® Whether Defendants offer this point as a conclusion, for which their other argumenffe @

in support, or as a separate argument intended to address the third prong of thaf-scope
employment test under Floridaw is unclear. In their recitation of applicable legal principles,
Defendants quot®©mnipol, a.S. v. Worrelfor the proposition that “[so] long as an act is
undertaken at least partto serve the employer, an employee will still be acting within thpesco

of his employment.” (Doc. 47 at 8) (emphasis in original) (internal quotation marks ajmitte
Omnipol the court noted that the plainsifiocused their argumemd defeat substitution on the
third prong of the scopef-employment test under Florida law, as they argued that, under their
allegations, the federal employees’ actions were not undertaken to serve tman@mie but
instead completk to serve the employees’ own personal avarice or were undertaken in
contravention of the Government’s policies and proced@ewmipol 421 F. Supp. 3d at 1340.

12
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Plaintiff's allegations are taken as true, Plaintiff has still failed to establish th&zbeer was
not acting, at least in part, to serve the interests of the Departiaent.

The provided evidencalso revealedo the Courtthe potential for the validity of the
Certification to overlap with the merits of Plaintiff’'s assault cldmsuchinstances, district courts
have held evidentiary hearings regarding the underlying factual dispute to evaludiéityresiee
e.g, Taite v. Morin 521 F. Supp. 2d 141, 143 (D.N.H. 200zpehndorf v. United Stateslo.
C140106JLR, 2014 WL 3752120, at *4 (W.D. Wash. July 30, 20T4)e overlap of certification
validity and the merits of the plaintiff's claim . . . is uncommon,” and “even when theifblaint
alleges an intentional tort, it may be possible to resolve the saieemployment question without
deciding the merits of the claimOsborn 549 U.Sat 252 n.15. Judges have a greater factfinding
role in Westfall Act cases and these immunity related issuesics be decided at the earliest
opportunity.ld. at 252 n.15, 253. Based on the nature of the submitted arguments, the extent of
conflicting evidence, and the potential for the validity of the Certification to overtagive merits
of Plaintiff's assaulclaim, the Court held an evidentiary hearing on August 25, 0@6termine
whether Dr. Azneer acted outside the scope of his employment, a finding of which asaltdrr

the Court granting the Renewed Challerfgee(Docs.51, 86).Plaintiff presented two witnesses

The court rejected that argument with the quoted language. Thus, the Court mereljeckihe
third prongof the scope-of-employment test under Florida law.

” The Court'sde novoreview of the Cerfication necessarily extends beyomiaintiff's
allegations, however. The Supreme Court has emphasized that the United Statesrfrainsthe
federal defendant in the action unless and until the District Court determihtdsetkeanployedn

fact and not simply as alleged by the plaintiff, engaged in conduct beyond the scope of his
employment.”Osborn v. Haley549 U.S. at 231 (emphasis in original). The Court previously
ordered limited discovery, thereby allowing it to exam@v&ence The focus, therefore, is on
submitted evidence.

13
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during the hearing: himself and Martin. Defendants presdaotedvitnesses: Dr. Azneer, Dean,
Litman, and DrBarrie.

During the evidentiary hearing, Plaintiff testified that Azneer “riled up” the suicidal
patient by initially claiming that he did not have time to deal with the patient and rushio§ ou
the room. (Doc. 87 at 20:8). The patient “started acting out, mumbling under his breath and just
saying things” afterwards, and Plaintiff claimed that the patient “started géiingnce Plaintiff
sought to replace the silverware for plasticwédeat 20:10-16, 21:1@3. Plaintiff testified that,
after Dr. Azneearrived into the room, he said to Plaintiff, “[Y]ou need to sit down and do your
job, stay in your place.ld. at 23:23-25. Of course, this testimony is markedly different from
Plaintiff's statement in his declaration that Dr. Azneer told Plaintiff toHisiblack self down and
do [his] job.” (Doc. 451 15) (internal quotation marks omitte@jaintiff testified that the only
other people in the room when Dr. Azneer arrived were Dr. Azneer, the patient, and ldaatin.
27:10-15PIlaintiff also testifiel that Dr. Azneer pushed Plaintiff in the forehead, pushed Plaintiff
in the chest, and raised his cane “probably about between his nose and his mouth or witatever.”
at 23:25, 24:17. Although alleged in the operative complaint, Plaintiff's declaration does not
mention Dr. Azneer raising his cane in the room.

Plaintiff testified thatwhile Spurlock “grabbed both of [his] wrists” after Dr. Azneer had
left the room for the nursestation, where Dean was located, Dr. Azrisalked up” towards
Plaintiff “real fast” and “swung [his] cane like a baseball bat."at 30:5-13, 32:6-8. Plaintiff
“twisted [his] wrists downward, dropped down, duck[ed]” and Spurlock “flew to the wdll&t
32:8-10. Plaintiff testified that the &y other individuals who were present when Dr. Azneer re
approached him, aside from Plaintiff and Dr. Azneer, were Martin, Spurlock, and aredtaet. p

Id. at 33:13-14. Spurlocknor theotherpatienttestified. Further, althougPlaintiff maintained that
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the patient was “outside her room in the hallwdeivasunable to specify the patiémntocation
in the hallwaywhen promptedd. at 85:9-23, 86:4—7.

Martin, Plaintiff's only other witness, testified that Dr. Azneer “becamiyragitated” in
the hospital room after discussing Plaintiff’'s decision to revoke the patidw&€srsare and “took
his fingers . . . and hit [Plaintiff's] chestd. at 97:1-3. A few minutes later, according to Martin,
Dr. Azneer “did it to his forehead” and told Plaintiff to “sit his black ass don&t 97:4-6. As
previously mentioned, Plaintiff omitted any mention of this language from his testiiantyn
also claimed that Dr. Azneé&grabbed his cane and raised it up to about, | don’t know, like kind
of face level” tavardsPlaintiff while Plaintiff and Dr. Azneer argued, at which point she told the
two mento leave the roomd. at 100:13-25. Martin asserted that Dean was in the roanone
point, but that she was not present when Dr. Azneer poked Plaintiff becaug#dflad told her
to call the policeld. at 96:3-4, 99:14-18, 100:6—1Dean testifiedhat Martin was not in the room
when she first arrived with Dr. Azneer, but that she entered the room at some point during the
assessment and was present in the room when Dean left to call her supenas@g5: 23-25,
204:15-19.

Martin further testified that Dr. Azneer thereafter “was coming down tHevdpalvery
quickly” from the nurses’ statioand Plaintiff*was trying harder to get [Spurlock] off of holding
his arm and she wasn’t budgingd’ at 10813—-19.According to Martin, Plaintiff “kind of twisted
his arm and got her to let go” and, at the same time, “Dr. Azneerppagaehing with his cane
up in the air and swung the cane, miss[ing] Plaintiff, because | think it wakdiked dipped
down or bent down or something when he had gotten [Spurlock] off of his arm, and it happened
really fast.”ld. at 109:14-24. Finally,Martin testified that during a debriefing session between the

Department’s attorney, Dr. Azneer, Dean, another attorney, and herself followingtidepos
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during the EEO process, Dr. Aznegimitted that he swung his cane at Plaintiff and explained that
he did so because Plainti$f“a big black man.Td. at110:8-25, 111:1-13.

Dr. Azneer and Dean testified ta antirelydifferent version of events from Plaintiff and
Martin. Dr. Azneer tesfied that he did not take issue with Plaintiff's decision to switch the utensils
and that Plaintiff became upset and challenging once Dr. Azneer sought to switslasist@esult
of the patient’s fear of Plaintiffd. at 152:725, 153:325, 154:39. This testimony is consistent
with Dr. Azneer’s declaratioand deposition. (Dac 47-1 Y4-5, 47-3 at 4:15-25, 5:16). Dr.
Azneer testified that he told Plaintiff that “he should sit down and calm down” leePéaistiff’s
behavior was “escalating a batusition.” (Doc. 87 at 153:31.8). Dr. Azneer described Plaintiff’s

behavior as “very threatening,” “challenging,” and “increasingly accusattutydt 154:22-23,
155:3, 160:19-20According to Dr. Azneer, he departed from the room “[t]o take it away from
the patient’s bedsideld. at 161:2-3.

Dr. Azneer claimed that, as he walked towards the nurses’ station, fPfalltived him
down the hall, yelling vulgalanguagetowards him.ld. at 161:1624. Again, this testimony is
consistent with Dr. Azneer’'sedlaration and deposition. (D071 5, 47-3 at 6:2125). Dr.
Azneertestified that, as he was walking away, he turned to face Plaintiff “to staredvim, |
guess, to see if he would stop.” (Doc. 87 at 1:63)2When Dr. Azneer did this, he pulled his cane
up to his chest in a “defensive posture,” placing his hand “erildlh part of the cane below the
crook” and bringing it up to his chestl. at 161:3-7, 9-15. Dr. Azneer did this because he was
“frightened” and Plaintiff was “right thereldl. at 161:6-8. Spurlock had attempted to place herself
between Dr. Azneer arflaintiff, and Dr. Azneer heard her tell Plaintiff that he was hurting her.

Id. at 163:9-16. Dr. Azneer explicitly testified that he never poked Plaintiff, pushed Plaintiff,

raised his cane at Plaintiff, swung his cane at Plaintiff, tried to hit Plamitifiade any physical
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contact with Plaintiff.ld. at 166:14-25, 167:1-3.This testimony is also consistent with Dr.
Azneer’sdeclaration and depositio(Docs.47-1 M10-11;473 at 6:14-20). The only potentially
damaging testimony that Plaintiff was able elicit from Dr. Azneer during a brief cress
examination was Dr. Azneer’s admission that he did not write in his initial witteesnent that
he had raised his cane to his chest. (Doc. 87 at 13)0:1—

Consistent with Dr. Azneer’s testimony and her declaration, (De2.%8), Dean testified
that Plaintiff becamagitated when Dr. Azneer sought to swisitters and, after Dr. Azneer told
Plaintiff to “please go sit down,” Plaintiff “became very upset and startiligpget Dr. Azneer,”
(Doc. 87 at 183:0-12).According to Dean, while she was in the room, Dr. Azneer never referred
to Plaintiff's raceld. at 183:2624. She did not observe Dr. Azneer raise his cane towards Plaintiff.
Id. at 185:10—-12After Dean finished calling her supervisor from the nurses’ station, she otbserve
Dr. Azneer and Plaintiff in the hallway, noting that Dr. Azneer was “trying toagety from
Plaintiff.” Id. at 188:2. Like Dr. Azneer’s testimony, Dean emphasized that, as Dr. Apo&ex
step back from Plaintiff, he “raise[d] his cane up to his chest as in defense nmueeP kintiff
“was still coming towards him.Id. at 187:1820.Dean echoed Dr. Azneer’s testimony that Dr.
Azneer never swung his cane towards Plaintiff at any ploirgt 190:16—-18.

In addition to the flaws highlighted above, the testimony of both Plaintiff and Maided
numerous credibilitgoncernsPlaintiff testified only that Dr. Azneer told him to sit down and do
his job, and he did not recall allegiimn his EEO complaint that Dr. Azneer told him to sit his
“black self down.”ld. at 55:1-4, 24-25, 56:1. Plaintiff testified that a gathering at a restaurant for
an employee’s birthday constituted the only occasion in whigpéettime with Martin outsde
of work, yet Martin testified that Plaintiff also helped her mage at 57:23-25, 58:1-2, 130:16—

23.Further, although Plaintiff claimed that the patient threatened him, Martin testiftetithdid
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not occurld. at 21:26-25, 22:+18 113:1720.Defendants alssuccessfullympeached Plaintiff
several timesFirst, Defendants impeached Plaintiff with his first complaint for employment
discrimination, filed with the Department, after he testified that the patient did not cldiimetha
did not want Plaintiff to watch him any longéd. at 67:25, 68:32, 69:1725, 70:1. Second,
Defendants impeached Plaintiff with the same complaint after he testified thatiéme gial not
state that he wanted Plaintiff to leave the roddh.at 70:24, 71:25, 72:49. Third, despite
Plaintiff's testimony that he did not raibés fist in “defense mode” during the incident when Dr.
Azneer purportedly raised his cane, Defendants highlighted that Plaintiffeig<tifring a prior
deposition that he did raise his fifd. at 77:25, 78:34, 80:111. And although Plaintifistated
that he coulahot recall directing certain foul language towards Dr. Azirettre room Defendants
pointed out that Plaintiff previously admitted to using such language during his depdditain.
81:22-24, 82:6-21.

Martin’s testimony raised similar coams.Despite her claim that Dr. Azneer admitted
during the debriefing that he swung his cane at Plaintiff because Plaintiff is “a thkgda,” Dr.
Azneer, Litman, and Deatlaimed thaDr. Azneer never made this admissitth at 168:+16,
192:15-25, 15, 211:4-15.The Court finds the testimony of Litman, an attorney who volunteered
for the Department, to be particularly credible. Consistent with his declarddoa, 476 15),
Litman testified that he was present for this meeting and Dr. Azneer di)ramimit to swinging
his cane at Plaintiff; (ii) admit that he raised and swung his cane at Plaintiff edtdausiff “was
a big black man”; (iii) make any comments about Plaintiff's race; or (iv) sayiagythat was
inconsistent with his depositiadestimony, (Doc. 8at 211:4-15). Significantly, Litman testified
that he would have noticed if Dr. Azneer had said something contrary to his depositinortgst

and, therefore, committed perjurid. at 211:16-23. Additionally, the first time that Martin
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claimed that Dr. Azneer referred to Plaintiff's race waser deposition, which occurred more
than twoyears after the incideaind, even so, she testified that Dr. Azneer “said something to him
about getting his black self back in,” not that Dr. Azneer RIlintiff to “sit [his] black [ass]
down.”ld. at126:8-25, 127:925, 128:13. At the time of her deposition, Martin was also unsure
whether Dr. Azneer had made the comment in the hallway or in the rdoat.128:4-7. In her
initial statement to the police, Martin did not recount any remark by Dr. Azneerdisgar
Plaintiff's race,Dr. Azneer poking Plaintiff in the forehead, or Dr. Azneer swinging his ddne.

at 1197-15 120:8-11. Martin admitted that she spoke with Plaintiff about the incident after it
occurred, but claimed she could not recall the details of that converddtian131:15120. $he

was “not 100 percent” sure whether she spoke with Plaintiff prior to her deposition nlkathiai

she “probably did” speak with Plaintiff afterwardd. at 131:25, 132:410. Without solicitation,
Martin prepared her own statement of facts followheg deposition because she “felt that things
weren’t handled properly” and she was “disturbed” by the debriefing sessi@t.13212-24.

She subsequently made changes to this version of her statement and sent both statements t
Plaintiff. 1d. at 134:612, 139:2223. Plaintiff was the intended audience, and Martin “felt
[Plaintiff] should know about the changetd’ at 137:2224, 1402-5.

Plaintiff has failed to carry his burden of altering the status quo by proving that Dr. Azneer
acted outside the scope of his employment. The testimony and evidence offerechtiy iRlai
seeking to challenge the United States’ substitution foABmeer is directly contradicted by the
testimony and evidence offered by Defendatsther, the identified deficiencies undermine the
credibility of, and weight afforded to, the evidence offered by Plaintiff. Jhiked States must
remain the federal defdant unless and until the Court determines that Dr. Ammésstengaged

in conduct beyond the scope of his employmentedew of the evidence simply does not
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demonstrate that Dr. Azneer factengaged in conduct beyond the scope of his employrment.
light of Plaintiff's failure to carry his burden, the Certification shhsl and, therefore, the Court
finds that Dr. Azneer acted within the scope of his employment. This conclusion is groanded i
Plaintiff's failure to carry his burdeof altering the status quaot whether certain events actually
transpired. As such, the Renewed Challenge is due to be denied.
1. MOTION TO DISMISS

Defendants seek to dismiss only the retaliation claim and the assault claim uteler Ru
12(b)(6) and Rule 12(b)(1), respectively. (Doc. 40-88)6For the reasons set forth below, the
Motion to Dismiss is due to be grantedpart and denieth-part

A. Legal Standard

To survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), a pleading must include a “short and
plain statement of thelaim showing that the pleader is entitled to reliéfShcroft v. Igbal 556
U.S. 662, 67478 (2009) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)).
Labels, conclusions and formulaic recitations of the elements of a cause of actiohsarfficient.
Id. at 678 (citingBell Atlantic Corp. v. Twomb)y650 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)). Furthermore, mere
naked assertions are not sufficiddt. A complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, which,
if accepted as true, would “state a claim to relief that is plausible on it5 iddguotingTwombly
550 U.S at 570). “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual contant th
allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendanteddrathe misconduct
alleged.” Id. (citation omitted). The Court, however, is not boundaccept as true a legal
conclusion stated as a “factual allegation” in the complhint.

Under Rule 12(b)(1), a defendant,raspondingo aclaim for relief in apleading, may

raise the defense of lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(Iferildet may
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attack subject matter jurisdiction in two manners: facially or factuditpMaster v. United States
177 F.3d 936, 940 (11th Cir. 1999). Whih facial attackon subject matter jurisdiction merely
requires a courtassuming the allegations of the complaint as trmejeterminewhether the
complaint sufficiently alleges a basis for jurisdictipdgEImurray v. Consolid. Gov’t of Augusta
RichmondCnty, 501 F.3d 1244, 1251 (11th Cir. 2007) (quotirayvrence v. Dunbar919 F.2d
1525, 1529 (11th Cir. 1990)a factual attack “challenge[s] ‘the existence of subject matter
jurisdiction in fact, irrespective of the pleadings, and matters outside thengesaduch as
testimony and affidavits, are considered,&wrence 9191 F.2d at 1529 (quotingenchaca v.
Chrysler Credit Corp.613 F.2d 507, 511 (5th Cir. 1980grt. denied 449 U.S. 953 (1980)).
B. Analysis
i. Retaliation Claim
1. Preliminary Considerations

Defendants move to dismiss Plaintiff's retaliation claim under Rule 12(b)(6)eobaisis
that Plaintiff failed to exhaust his administrative remedied theclaim isuntimely. (Doc. 40 at
6—7) (“Accordingly, all of Plaintiff's retaliationallegations should be dismissed under Rule
12(b)(6).”). At the outset, the Court notes that the Eleventh Circuit has generalhyhaeld t
federal employee must pursue and exhaust her administrative remediegureslietional
prerequisite to filing a Title VIl actionCrawford v. Babbitt186 F.3d 1322, 1326 (11th Cir. 1999)

(emphasis added)However, Defendants designate their challenge as one for failure to state a

8 But sedrort Bend Cnty. v. Davj439 S. Ct. 1843, 1846 (2019) (explaining tHpirequisites to
suit like Title VII's chargefiling instructiori’ under 8 2000 for a complainant to file a charge
with the EEOC prior to filing a civil actiofare properly ranked among the array of claim
processing rules that must be timely raised to come intd)plaipes v. Trans World Airlines,
Inc., 455 U.S. 385, 393 (1982) (holding théling a timely chargeof discriminationwith the
EEOCis not a jurisdictional prerequisite to suit in federal court, but a requireim&intliike a
statute of limitations, is subject to waiver, estoppel, and equitable tollidgparately, a panel of
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claim under Rule 12(b)(6), rather than a jurisdictional challenge under Rule 12(g{dfiffRloes
not object to this designation. As such, in light of both parties’ reliance on Rule 12{(€purt
will resolve Defendants’ challenge to the retaliation claim utilizing thiedstrds of Rule 12(b)(6).

In moving to dismiss the retaliah claim, Defendants attach numerous documents to the
Motion to Dismiss: (1) an April 5, 2016 complaint of employment discrimination; (2) an AMISC
fax coversheet; (3) a Department Notice of Rights and Responsibilities igmad oy Plaintiff
and dated April 5, 2016; (4) a July 6, 2017 complaint of employment discrimination; (5) a June
23, 2017 email from EEO Counsel Kelley Schafer (“Schafer”) to Plaintiff's counsel; (6) a June
16, 2017 letter on Department letterhead from Schafer to Plaintiff's attoif)ey;J(ly 6, 2017-e
mail from Plaintiff's attorney; (8) an August 24, 2017 Notice of Final Agency egisnd (9)
an administrative judge’s order adopting and granting the Department’s motion for summary
judgment. (Docs. 44, 402, 403, 404). In a footnote appended to a citation to one of these
exhibits, Defendants simply cite an Eleventh Circuit case that articulatescaeptien to the
general prohibition on looking beyond the four corners of a complaint on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.
(Doc. 40 at .2). Defendants apparently seek the Court’s consideration of the exhibits on this

basis.

the Eleventh Circuit has held, in an unpublished opinion, that thesteporequirement for
exhaustion of administrative remedies under the Prison Litigation Reform Adedgpl a
defendant’s “Rule 12(b) motion to dismiss” for a Title VII claifillery v. U.S. Dep’t of Homeland

Sec, 402 F. App’x 421, 42223 (11th Cir. 2010). This requirement “directs the district court to
resolve factual disputes as to exhaustion of administrative remedies on a motionige i€y

the factual disputes do not decide the merits of the clamdq2) the parties have had sufficient
opportunity to develop the recordld. at 423. As an unpublished decisidrillery is merely
persuasive authority. 11th Cir. R.-26Regardless, and in the absence of any supporting argument
otherwise the Court heeds the designation of the motion as one under Rule 12(b)(6) and resolves
the challenge utilizing the standards thereunder.
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Plaintiff also provides the Court with documents for consideration. Indeed, Plaistff
provides the April 5, 2016 complaint of employment discrimination, the B $ax coversheet,
the Department Notice of Rights and Responsibilities form, the July 6, 2017 complaint of
employment discrimination, the June 23, 2017 e-mail from Schafer, the June 16, 201 0bfeatter fr
Schafer, the July 6, 2017naail from Plaintiff's atorney, and the August 24, 2017 Notice of Final
Agency Decision. (Docs. 4B, 433, 434). Plaintiff also provides: (1) a letter from his attorney to
the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), which encloses a charge of
discrimination dated Malc9, 2017; and (2) a fax to Plaintiff's attorney, which encloses a “Notice
of Appeal/Petition- Complainant” form completed by Plaintiff and dated September 21, 2017.
(Docs. 43-2, 43%).

If, on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, “matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not
excluded by the court, the motion must be treated as one for summary judgment.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
12(d). However, the Eleventh Circuit recognizes exceptions to this rule. For example, as
Defendants recognize in their footnote, a court “may consider a document attaahedtion to
dismiss without converting the motion into one for summary judgment if the attached document
is (1) central to the plaintiff's claim; and (2) undisputeDdy v. Taylor 400 F.3d 1272, 1276
(11th Cir. 2005). “Adocument is central to a complaint when it is a ‘necessary part of [the
plaintiff's effort] to make out a claimMadura v. Bank of Am., N.AZ67 F. App’x 868, 870 (11th
Cir. 2019) (alteration in original) (quotiigay, 400 F.3d at 1276). “In this context, ‘undisputed’
means the authenticity of the document is not challendpady’400 F.3d at 1276.

Additionally, a court may take judicial notice, at any stage of the proceeding, of an
adjudicative fact not subject to reasonable dispute because: “(1) it is generally \kitbim the

trial court’s territorial jurisdiction; or (2) can be accurately and readilgrdehed from sources
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whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned,” Fed. R. Evid. 201(b), (d). As such, the Eleventh
Circuit has held that a coumay consider properly judiciaHgoticed documents in resolving a

Rule 12(b)(6) motionSee Horne v. PotteB92 F. App’x 800, 802 (11th Cir. 2010) (holding that

the district court “properly took judicial notice” of public records that “&verot subjecta
reasonable dispute’ because they were ‘capable of accurate and ready determinasont iy
sources whose accuracy could not reasonably be questioiagédnt v. Avado Brands, Incl87

F.3d 1271, 1278 (11th Cir. 1999) (holding that a court mag jiadicial notice of “relevant public
documents” required to be filed, and actually filed, with the SEC in a securdigsdase “for the
purpose of determining what statements the documents contain and not to prove the truth of the
documents’ contents’see also Univ. Express, Inc. v. U.S. S.E1€7 F. App’x 52, 53 (11th Cir.

2006) (“[P]ublic records are among the permissible facts that a distritihncay consider” without
converting a motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment”). Firsatlgurt “may take

judicial notice on its own.” Fed. R. Evid. 201(c)(1).

Here, although Defendants offer a citation in an attempt to persuade the Couridercons
the documents under the first exception noted above, the Motion to Dismiss is devoid of any
accompanying argument. As such, Defendants’ offered basis for consideratiordottineents
is unavailing. However, the Court may take judicial notice on its own, and it will takegl
notice of those exhibits that constitute part of the adminiserageord and are not subject to
reasonable dispute. Thus, the Court takes judicial notice of the following recortte &pril 5,

2016 complaint of employment discrimination; (2) the Department Notice of Rights and
Responsibilities form; (3) the July B017 complaint of employment discrimination; (4) the June
16, 2017 letter on Department letterhead from Schafer; (5) the August 24, 2017 Noticd of Fina

Agency Decision; (6) the administrate judge’s order; and (7) the March 9, 2017 charge of

24



Case 8:18-cv-02210-CEH-JSS Document 92 Filed 11/20/20 Page 25 of 34 PagelD 858

discrimination enclosed with the letter from Plaintiff's attorney. These exhibits constiutep
the administrative record and are not subject to reasonable dispute. The Coutlypdestines
to take judicial notice of the AMSCOT fax coversheet, thea@l from Schafer to Plaintiff's
attorney, the cover letter from Plaintiff's attorney to the EEOC, and thi falaintiff's attorney
with the enclosed “Notice of Appeal/PetitistComplainant” form. Whether these documents are
part of the administrative record, or whether they are undisputed, is uhclear.
2. Exhaustion and Untimeliness

The Court now turns to Defendants’ argument that the Court should dismiss Plaintiff's
retaliation claim under Rule 12(b)(6) because he “failed to exhaust his attatine remedies
ard/or failed to timely file a civil action as to his retaliation claims.” (Doc. 40 at d) p#&sonnel
actions affecting employees . . . in executive agencies . . . shall be made free from any
discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.” 42 U.S.C. 8-26(0)e
Thus, “Title VIl prohibits employers-including the federal governmenfrom discriminating
against employees on the basis of race or national orRgamiirez v. Sec’y, U.S. Dep’t of Transp.
686 F.3d 1239, 1243 (11th Cir. 2012). However, before a federal employee may bring a Title VII
action in federal court, he or she “must first seek relief from the agency where egedall
discrimination occurred.ld. “This requirement is not a technicality; [r]ather, it is part aactel
of the congressional design to vest in the federal agencies and officials engageayimrdri
promoting personnel primary responsibility for maintaining nondiscrimination in employment.”

Id. (alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted). To that end, the EB@Catopted

° Although “Notice of Appeal/Petition- Complainant” form lists a date of service, the faam
attached to a fax sent to Plaintiftseunsel. (Doc. 45%). Whethethe EEOC received this form is
unclear, andhe Court declines to assume that this document is part of the administrative record
or otherwise undisputed.
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regulations setting forth the procedure that employees must following in presentmyidestoon
claims to federal agenciedd.

Under the regulations, “[ilis the policy of the Government of the United States . . . to
prohibit discrimination in employment because of race . . . and to promote the fulltrealcfa
equal employment opportunity through a continuing affirmative program in each agency.” 29
C.FR. 8 1614.101(a). Relevant here, “[n]o person shall be subject to retaliation for opposing any
practice made unlawful by” Title VII “or for participating in any stage of adrritise or judicial
proceedings” under Title VIId. 8 1614.101(b). “An aggnesd person must initiate contact with
a Counselor with 45 days of the date of the matter alleged to be discriminatory or, isetlod ca
personnel action, within 45 days of the effective date of the actfdd.”§ 1614.105(a)(1). The
purpose of this comtation is to “try to informally resolve the matteld. § 1614.105(a).

When these informal attempts to resolve the matter are unsuccessful, thedey#oyee
may file a formal complaint with the agency that allegedly discriminated against th&as@anp
See?29 C.F.R. 88 1614.105(d), 1614.106(a). When an agency dismisses an entire complaint, the
agency must issue a final decision, which constitutes final agency ddti@n1614.110(b). For
those complaints that are not dismissed, an administraiiigle must issue a decision on the
complaint within onehundred eighty days of the administrative judge’s receipt of the complaint
from the agencyid. 81614.109(i). When the administrative judge has issued such a decision, the
agency must then take finattion on the complaint by issuing a final order within forty days of

its receipt of the hearing file and administrative judge’s decisibg 1614.110(a). If the agency

10 “Complaints alleging retaliation prohibited by [Title VII and otlerumerated statutes] are
considered to be complaints of discrimination for purposes of [Part 1614].” 29 C.F.R. § 1614.103.
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fails to issue a final order within forty days of its receipt of the administrdtgejs decision, the
decision of the administrate judge becomes the agency’s final dction.

A complainant may appeal to the EEOC an agency’s dismissal of a complainalor fin
action.Id. 88 1614.110(a), 1614.401(a). Title VIl authorizes a complainant to file a civil action in
an appropriate district court:

(a) Within 90 days of receipt of the agency final action on an
individual or class complaint;

(b)  After 180 days from the date of filing an individual or class
complaint if final agency action has not been taken;

(©) Within 90 days of receipt of the Commission’s final decision
on appeal; or

(d)  After 180 days from the date of filing an appeal with the

Commission if there has been no final decision by the
Commission.

Id. 8§ 1614.407(a)d). See als@2 U.S.C. § 200@16(c).

In the context of federal employees’ discrimination claims, the EleventhiCuasi held
that “the purpose of exhaustion is to give the agency the information it needs to invesimate
resolve the dispute between the employee and the emploBeswn v. Snow440 F.3d 1259,
1263 (11th Cir. 2006). To determine if an employee failed to estHas or her administrative
remedies, a court must examine whether “the complainant made a good faith etiorplyp with
the regulations and, particularly, to provide all the relevant specific informatidatdeao him
or her.”ld. (internal quotation marks omitted). Further, “a plaintiff's judicial complaint is limited
by the scope of the EEOC investigation which can reasonably be expected to grow out of the
charge of discrimination.Gregory v. Ga. Dep’t of Human Resourc85s5 F.3d 1277, 1280 (Tt
Cir. 2004) (internal quotation marks omitted). “[JJudicial claims are allowed if they amplify,
clarify, or more clearly focus the allegations” in the administrative complaintabedjations of
new acts of discrimination are inappropriatel”’at 127980 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Nonetheless, courts are “extremely reluctant” to allow procedural techeigabtibar Title VII
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claims, and “the scope of an EEOC complaint should not be strictly interpréde@t’ 1280
(internal quotation marksmitted).

Here, Plaintiff alleges that he filed an administrative complaint “for raceimis@tion
and retaliation in violation of Title VII” on April 5, 2016. (Doc. 39 11). Plaintiff citese tase
numbers and alleges that the “charge” in the second of these two cases “was denied @ the bas
that retaliation was properly subject to the original charge as a continuing alticat. Y11 n.1.
Plaintiff alleges that “[a]ll statutory requirements have been fulfilled, includimgrequirements
for pre-suit administrative claims.” (Doc. 39 §8). Plaintiff similarly alleges, albeit undercton
of the complaint with a title pertaining to the Federal Tort Claims Act, that “[a]ll conditions
precedent to the filing of this action has [sic] occurred, accrued, or have beed awsia matter
of law.” Id. at 110.

Plaintiff filed a complaint of employment discrimination with the Department on April 5,
2016. (Docs. 44 at 2; 431 at 1). The form prompted Plaintiff to provide information regarding
the basis for is complaint, as well as his claims; Plaintiff omitted any information regarding the
basis and attached a narrative for his summary of the claims, which generadly tieeiincidents
of February 7, 201,6ow alleged in the operative complaint, includibig Azneer raising his cane
and Anglin restraining Plaintiff. (Docs. 4Dat 25; 431 at 14 ). After retaining counsel, Plaintiff
filed a charge of discrimination, dated March 9, 2017, with the EEOC, not the Depa$ee
(Doc. 43 at 2; 42 at 2). Thecharge of discrimination alleged two instances of retaliation: (1) on
December 13, 2016, Williams and Konstantinos sought to speak with Plaintiff regardingthis fir

complaint for employment discrimination and Williams advised that it would be in Piiaifihést
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interest” to speak with hét; and (2) on February 24, 2017, an FBI agent visited Plaintiff's
residence and advised that she was investigating social media postings and timeeharaiss
police officers of the Departmend. (internal quotatioomarks omitted)Plaintiff admits that the
filing of this charge with the EEOC was in error. (Doc. 43 at 2).

In her June 16, 2017 letter to Plaintiff's attorney, Schafer advised that she was closing the
informal counseling for case number 260816-201710227, which was a different case than
Plaintiff's first complaint of employment discrimination. (Docs-2i@t 4; 433 at 3). Schafer
summarized the basisr Plaintiff's complaint as “Reprisal,” with a reference to the case number
for the first complaintdr employment discrimination in parentheddsShe described the alleged
reprisal as Williams and Konstantakos requesting to speak with Plaintiffdnegahis
discrimination complaint and Williams advising that it was in Plaintiff's “best intetesgieak
with her.1d. (internal quotation marks omitted). Schafer advised that Plaintiff could éitner
formal discrimination complaint within fifteen days from his receipt of her lettere @ohld take
no further action. (Doc. 40-2 at 5; 43-3 at 4).

Plaintiff filed a second complaint of employment discrimination on July 6, 2017. (Docs.
40-2 at 2; 433 at 1). Similar to Schafer's summary, Plaintiff listed “Reprisal” as this bashis
second complaint and referred to the claim number for the firsipleint. Id. The second
complaint listed two claims: on December 13, 2016, Williams and Konstantinos approached
Plaintiff and “attempted to curtail or stop the investigation related to” Plairfif§iscomplaint of

employment discrimination; and (2) on February 24, 2017, the FBI “showed up unannounced to

11 Oddly, the narrative for this claim refers to Plaintiff in the tipaison in certain portions.
Further, although this charge of discrimination and the second complaint of employment
discrimination refer to Konstantakos as “Kristen Konstatine,” the Countefar to this individual

as “Kristine Konstantakos” or "Konstantakos,” given the allegations in the operatiyadaint.
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harass [Plaintifff and his family” regarding Plaintiffs first complaint of enypient
discrimination.Id. The second complaint of employment discrimination did not contain any
additional allegations.

By letter dated August 24, 2017, the Department dismissed the second complaint of
employment discrimination. (Doc. 4/at 2-3; 434 at 15). The Department noted that the second
complaint of discrimination raised two claims: (A) whether Plaintiff was disoeatad against on
the basis of reprisal for prior EEO activity when Williams and Konstantakesgted to coerce
him into speaking with them about his first complaint of discrimination; and (B) whelhieitiff
was discriminated against on the basis of reprisal for prior EEO activity wteBlagent arrived
at his residence and harassed him regarding his first complaint of discriminabon4(3 at 2;

434 at 1). The Department dismissed the first claim because it constituted “the samé¢haatte
is currently before the Commission” and dismissed the second claim becauseattim&sgacks
jurisdiction over a matter regarding an employee of another federal agency. (EBat 30434

at 2). Because the Department’s decision constituted final agency action, an attatbed
advised Plaintiff of his right to file a civil action in an appropriate district tcgy “within 90
days of receipt of this final decisigihno appeal to EEOC has been file¢R) if Plaintiff filed an
appeal with the EEOQGwithin 90 days after receipt of the EEOC'’s final decision of his appeal; or
(3) after 180 days from the date of Plaintiff's filing of an appeal with the EEOC, EE@C had

not issued a final decision. (Docs. 140-3 at 4; 43-4 at 3) (emphasis added).

Finally, on April 2, 2019, the administrative judge granted summary judgment in favor of
the Department on Plaintiff’s first complaint of employment discrimination. (Doel 40 2).
Although the Department had previously dismissed Plaintiff’'s claim ofiagte regarding

Williams and Konstantakos because that claim was already under considdnataaministrative
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judge explained in a footnote that Plaintiff “did not identify reprisal as a basie anff motions
... to amend the complaint to incluceprisal as a basidd. at 3 n.2. The administrative judge’s
order advised Plaintiff that, within forty days, the Department was requirsdue a final order
notifying Plaintiff whether the Department would fully implement the decision. (Dcd. &06-
7). Plaintiff allegestiat the Department issuadinal decision on April 9, 2019, and that he filed
the operative complaint within ninety days of that final decigipoc. 39 1112-13).

Defendants’ attacks on Plaintgfretaliation claims are quite limited. Defendants first
argue that Plaintiff did not exhaust his administrative remedies becausefRiiaimiot amend his
first administrative complaint to include any retaliation claim. To the extent thaardpisnent
pertains to Plaintiff's allegations regarding Williams atwhstantakos and the FBI agent visiting
his home, the argument is unavailing. After the Department dismissed Plaingéitsds
administrative complaint, which included the allegations regarding Williams and &ttaisbs
and the FBI, Plaintiff had the aph of appealing the dismissal to the EEOC. Plaintiff alleges that
he has satisfied all administrative prerequisites for this action, arehdseits do not argue that
Plaintiff declined, or failed, to appeal. Plaintiff alleges that he filed this lawsthinminety days
of an April 9, 2019 final decision. No party provides this April 9, 2019 final decisidret€ourt.
Further, although the administrative judge noted that Plaintiff's first complairérhployment
discrimination was limited to discrimination, as Plaintiff had not identified retaliatiorbasis.or
moved to amend the complaint to include retaliation, the Department had previously thforme
Plaintiff that his first claim for retaliation wadready being considere®efendants fail to exgin
why a complainant who waslvisedhat one of his retaliation claims was already being considered
shauld move to amend a prior complaint to include that cl&elatedly, he governing analysis

in determining administrative exhaustion is whether Afaimiade a good faith effort to comply
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with the regulations and provide the Department with relevant informationaleditehim. Based

on the allegations and the judicially noticed exhibits, the Court declines to find thaifffalatl

to exhaust hisadministrative remedies for his retaliation claims regarding Williams and

Konstantakos and the FBI agent visiting his home. With respect to the remainimngfioatal

allegations, the Court need not address this argument in light of its conclusion below.
Defendants also argue that Plaintiff failed to exhaust his administrative remadibe f

retaliation claim to the extent that the claim rests upon his placement on administrativeciditie

his supervisor notifying him of a fact finding and questioning him regarding his harassment of

Anglin in March of 2018 because he did not file administrative claims regarding eittiersef

incidents. In the face of Defendants’ challenge, Plaintiff does not point todgstadns or rely

on his provided exhibits. Instead, Plaintiff merely claims, in passing, that tyeetty preserved”

the retaliation allegation regarding his supervisor “and continuing acts of teprieés second

complaint for employment discrimination. (Doc. 43 a7 But the judiciallynoticed exhibits

from the administrative record, provided by both DefendantsPlaintiff, do not indicate that

Plaintiff raised these allegations in either his first administrative complaint osdusnd

administrative complaint. Thus, Plaintiff provides no substantive argument that femplaicon

unidentified administrative duties at some unspecified time after his arresdt bistsupervisor’s

notification and questioning in March of 2018, were addressed below with the Departimrent. N

does he argue thdhese allegations were reasonably expected to grow out if his charge of

discrimination. As such, Plaintiff has failed to exhaust his administrative remeslitzs these

specified allegations in relation to his retaliation clafm.

12 The Court reaches the same conclusion for Plaintiff's claim that the Departntiea@rwise
conspired to pressure the Complainant into not speaking out regarding the charge of
discrimination,” to the extent that Plaintiff's retaliation claim rests upon that allegation.
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Finally, Defendants arguthat, to the extent that Plaintiff's retaliation claim rests on the
FBI's visit, the claim is untimely because Plaintiff failed to file a lawsuit within nidefys of the
Department’s final decision dismissing this claim. (Doc. 40 atf#¢. Court canasily dispense
with this attack. Defendanpgesume that ninety days is the applicable period to file a civil action.
As explained above, Plaintiff had the option of appealing the Department’s decisiofceQi:
and filing a civil actionfollowing 180 days from the date of his filing of the appeal if there had
been no final decision by the EEOC. While Plaintiff claims that he has satisfietrafiistrative
prerequisites for this action, Defendants doexgilain why this 9@ay timeframas applicable,
nor do they argue that Plaintiff failed to appeal. In the absence of any argument agdtessi
correct timeframethis argument fails.

Therefore, based on the foregoing, Plaintiff failed to exhaust his administratieeies
for his retaliation claim tahe extent that he relies upon his allegations that he was placed on
administrative duties following his arrest and his supervisor notified him oftdirfiding and
guestioned his harassment of Anglin. Defendants’ remaining arguments as tolititeretdaim
are denied.

ii. Assault Claim

As set forth above, the United States has been properly substituted for Der Aztiee
assault claimThus, Plaintiff brings an assault claim against the United States. However, the
United Statesloes not waive sovereign immunity fany claim arising out of asskyi except for
any claim arising out of assault with regard to the acts or omissions of investigataw
enforcement officers. 28 U.S.C. § 2680(hherefore, the assault claim agsti the United States
is due to dismissed, without prejudice, for lack of subject matter jurisdictidhe dsnited States

has not waived sovereign immunity as to this type of clRieed v. U.S. Postal Ser288 F. App’x
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638, 639 (11th Cir. 2008). As such, the Motion to Dismiss is due to be granted as to the assault
claim.
IV.CONCLUSION

Accordingly, it iSORDERED:

1. Plaintiff's Renewed Challenge to the United States of America’s Certificatidn a
Substitution for Dr. Azneer (Doc. 45) BENIED. The United Sites shall remain
substituted for Dr. Azneer as to the assault claim in the operative complaint.

2. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and Incorporated Memorandum of Law (Doc. 40) is
GRANTED-IN-PART and DENIED-IN-PART.

3. Plaintiff’s retaliation claim (Count 1) i®ISM1SSED, without preudice, for failure
to exhaust administrative remedmdy to the extent that the claim rests upofa) his
placement on administrative duties or (b) his supervisor notifying him of a fact finding
and questioning him regarding his harassment of officer Christopher Anglin in March
of 2018.

4. Plaintiff's assault claim (Count 1V) iDISMISSED, without prejudice, for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction.

5. The United States and Robert L. Willgballanswerthe operative complaint within
FOURTEEN (14) DAY Sfrom the date of this Order.

DONE AND ORDERED in Tampa, Florida on November 20, 2020.

‘f Aafle e Cdidand o None X Y
Charlenes Edwards Honeywell .
United States District Judge

Copies to:
Counsel of Record and Unrepresented Patrties, if any
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